
 

Minutes of the Executive Board M eeting on August 19, 2008 

The sixth regularly scheduled meeting of GAPSA Executive Board was convened on August 19, 2008 
at 6:06 PM in the second floor conference room of the Graduate Student Center. 
 
 
Rol l  Cal l  and Declar at ion of  Quor um 
 
Present were: Andrew Rennekamp, Sarah Smith, Nikki Thorpe, Alexandra Kotsovos, Alejandro 
Hagan, Christa Heyward, Saurabh Madaan, Mat Abramsky,  and Jessica Kim. 

Notes of absence were received from: Christina Arlt and Esther Agbaje. 

Also absent was: Vicky Doan-Nguyen.   

 
Approval  of the M inut es f r om Pr ior  M eet i ngs 

The changes to last meeting’s minutes put forth by GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp were 
unanimously approved. 

 
Repor ts 

ChairÕs Report 

School Orientations 
 
GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp stated that all Executive Board members should be following up 
with their assigned school’s New Student Orientation.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that if the school 
government is already mentioning GAPSA at their own NSO, then this would be the preferred 
method to promote GAPSA presence.  In some cases, the Graduate Student Center mentions GAPSA. 
 
 
First Vice ChairÕs Report 

GradFest  

First Vice Chair Alejandro Hagan stated he does not yet have a committee for GradFest but that he 
remade the GradFest brochures which will arrive next week.  AT&T might be this year’s title 
sponsor, donating $7500. Therefore, GradFest would be announced as ‘AT&T Presents GradFest 
2009.’   GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp asked whether the Vice Provost of University Life Office 
will donate to GradFest and Mr. Hagan was unsure of this.  Mr. Hagan stated he can set up a meeting 
with VPUL to discuss this.  Vice Chair for Social Activities Jessica Kim suggested holding an AT&T 
sponsored event, such as an AT&T Happy Hour.   Mr. Hagan stated that depending on the amount 
donated, other companies can sponsor titled events during GradFest.  Vice Chair for Professional 
Students Mat Abramsky suggested leaving open a second title sponsor slot. 

Career Services 



 

Mr. Hagan stated that Career Services is willing to include in their resume builder section of their 
email information concerning University Committee applications.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that the 
information should be sent as soon as possible. 
 
 
Vice Chair for Professional StudentsÕ Report 

 
Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky had nothing to report. 
 
 
Vice Chair for Research StudentsÕ Report 

Vice Chair for Research Students Vicky Doan-Nguyen was not present. 
 
 
Vice Chair for International StudentsÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for International Students Saurabh Madaan mentioned that Vice Chair for Finance Christa 
Heyward suggested holding a small, informal event concerning the recent events in Georgia and 
Russia.  Mr. Madaan suggested that five students from that region would discuss history and 
geography and give their perspective on this issue.  Mr. Madaan needs more Russian students to be 
involved as he has several Georgian students willing to participate.  Mr. Madaan asked that if any 
Executive Board member knows students from Russia to ask if they would be willing to participate in 
this event.  Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky stated he would send an email out to 
the Russian students from the School of Design. 
 
 
Vice Chair for Equity and AccessÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for Equity and Access Esther Agbaje was not present. 
 
 
Vice Chair for FinanceÕs Report 
 
Vice Chair for Finance Christa Heyward sent out an email to all of last year’s University Committee 
applicants to encourage them to apply again this year.  Ms. Heyward also announced that GAPSA 
may receive an extra $6000 for professional student travel grants.  According to Ms. Heyward, 
before GAPSA and GSAC merged, the Provost’s Office used to match the professional travel grants.  
However, last year the office did not give GAPSA any money for this.  GAPSA Chair Andrew 
Rennekamp stated that he was unaware of the matching funds for professional student grants. Ms. 
Heyward emailed the office to see if they would match the grants as they had in the past.  GAPSA 
used to have $12,000 to give for professional travel grants.  Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat 
Abramsky stated that last year GAPSA only awarded $7000 in professional travel grants.  Mr. 
Abramsky stated that former Vice Chair for Professional Students Meal Mueller stated that last year 
was the most money awarded by GAPSA for professional travel grants.  Mr. Abramsky stated that 
previously GAPSA had trouble receiving applications for professional travel grants, but last year the 
number of applications was very large.   
 
 
Vice Chair for Student LifeÕs Report 



 

 
Business Services 
 
Vice Chair for Student Life Nikki Thorpe and GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp met with the Office 
of Business Services to discuss alternative modes of transportation.  Business Services is pleased that 
GAPSA is focusing on this issue.  However, when it comes to shuttle transportation Business Services 
prioritizes serving West Philadelphia over Center City. Business Services stated that there are 
outstanding grant applications for bike storage such as on campus pods and pods within parking 
garages.  Business Services also helped clarify the issue concerning Penn Transit as a profit generating 
entity.  Penn Transit would be heavily subsidized no matter which department ran it.  The charter 
service run by Penn Transit generates revenue and if Penn Transit were under the Department of 
Public Safety, then the charter service might not continue. 
 
Ms. Thorpe also reported that the Office of Off-Campus Living, which is under Business Services, 
will be moving to Stouffer Commons, which will be convenient for undergraduate students, but not 
necessarily for graduate and professional students.   
 
In addition, Business Services is trying to promote the use of the lounge space in the Penn 
Bookstore.  This space is open air with A/V equipment, seats about twenty people, and is free for 
students to use.  GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp stated that this space is ideal for book signings, 
but can also be used for speakers and other activities, such as events in conjunction with GradFest. 
 
Division of Public Safety 
 
Ms. Thorpe stated that the Division of Public Safety will be releasing a map of the South Street 
Bridge.  Also, the Division is encouraging students to visit their website in order to obtain feedback to 
help make the site more user-friendly.   In addition, the bike racks on campus are not being removed, 
only relocated to better lighted areas in view of CCTV. 
 
Department of Recreation 
 
Ms. Thorpe stated that Penn Rec is undergoing a great deal of transition.  There are currently two 
advisory committees on which the office would like graduate students to sit: The Programs Advisory 
Committee and the Facilities Advisory Committee.  There have been two new people hired to 
oversee these committees but there is some confusion as to the function and goals of these 
committees.  The office expects the participating graduate students to bring their own agendas.  Ms. 
Thorpe is unsure if in the future these two committees will remain separate.  GAPSA Chair Andrew 
Rennekamp asked if one graduate student could sit on both committees.  Vice Chair for Finance 
Christa Heyward stated that last year GAPSA sent two people to the Facilities Advisory Committee 
but sent no one to the Programs Advisory Committee.  Mr. Rennekamp suggested having the same 
two graduate students sit on both committees or have one student sit on each committee. 
 
WXPN 
 
Ms. Thorpe stated that the graduate student representative to the WXPN board is planning to return, 
but has not attended the Student Life Policy Council meetings in the past.  
 
[didn’t we discuss more about this? – Nikki?]  
 
 
Vice Chair for Social ActivitiesÕ Report 



 

 
Vice Chair for Social Activities Jessica Kim reported on some preliminary work she had been doing in 
support of a possible campus climate survey. In order to effectively conduct this survey, GAPSA 
needs an advisor with expertise in this field of campus climate surveys, which would include surveying 
any aspect in the environment in which students study – academic issues, student life, social climate, 
housing, perceptions, peers, etc.  Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky stated that he 
knows of a professor at Wharton who writes surveys.  Mr. Abramsky stated he could email this 
professor for advice. Vice Chair for Finance Christa Heyward mentioned that Cornell had conducted a 
campus climate survey.  Ms. Heyward stated that she would email one of the Cornell Ivy Summit 
representatives for information and advice.  Mr. Abramsky suggested instituting a joint professional 
and research committee for the GAPSA Campus Climate survey.  Ms. Kim stated that this project is 
large enough to warrant its own committee.  Mr. Abramsky put forth a motion to do, regardless of 
how it is conducted and through GAPSA’s abilities, a campus climate survey of graduate and 
professional students.  Mr. Hagan seconded this motion.  In principle, the motion was unanimously 
approved.  Mr. Rennekamp suggested the Executive Board draw up a plan for this survey but Mr. 
Abramsky stated that the survey idea go to the Survey Committee to come up with a concept.  Then 
this committee’s members would make the appropriate contacts and report back to the General 
Assembly.  Ms. Kim stated that a campus climate survey was needed because in the past various 
challenges have come up that GAPSA cannot address in a direct way without solid data to back them 
up.  These include general challenges students experience that are detrimental and affect academic 
and social experiences while at the university.  Mr. Rennekamp suggested putting forth in the General 
Assembly meeting a motion to form a special Survey Committee, decide who would chair this 
committee, and decide the time period that the committee would last.  Mr. Rennekamp suggested 
that this committee meet outside of the GA meeting time to prevent negative impact on the 
standing committees.  Mr. Hagan stated that this committee should meet at the same time as the 
standing committees.  Mr. Abramsky suggested that the GA should make this decision and one of the 
Executive Board members draft a recommended motion and a presentation to give to the GA.  Then 
during the GA meeting, a debate could take place to decide whether or not the special Survey 
Committee should meet outside the regular GA time period. 
 
 
Vice Chair for Social ProgramsÕ Report 
 
Vice Chair for Social Programs Christina Arlt was not present. 
 
 
Vice Chair for CommunicationsÕ Report 
 
Website 
 
Vice Chair for Communications Alexandra Kotsovos stated that the GAPSA website is in the process 
of moving to its new host.  There will be plenty of room to host pictures and other files.  The 
website should be finished before September 1st.   
 
All-school Email 
 
Ms. Kotsovos previously emailed to the Executive Board a draft of the all-school email.  GAPSA 
Chair Andrew Rennekamp stated that the hard date for the committee applications is August 29th, but 
the GAPSA website states the deadline is August 20th.  Ms. Kotsovos stated she would make this 
change.  Vice Chair for International Students Saurabh Madaan stated that since the previous email 
was sent, he has had more students contact him regarding committee applications.  Mr. Madaan 



 

stated that the deadline extension would be a good idea.  First Vice Chair Alejandro Hagan stated that 
he already had sent to Wharton a separate email regarding the committee applications.  Mr. 
Rennekamp suggested using the all-school email to send out information regarding the Townhall 
meeting.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that if any Executive Board member has more information to be 
included with this email to notify him as soon as possible.  Mr. Hagan suggested including information 
regarding the large September events such as Strikes, Moshulu, and the Live Arts Festival.  Ms. 
Kotsovos stated she will include in the following order the events information, then the committee 
application information and then the Townhall meeting information.   
 
 
Vice Chair for OperationsÕ Report 

Room Reservations 

Vice Chair for Operations Sarah Smith stated that she is in the process of reserving rooms for the 
Committee Orientation meeting and the G12 meeting.  Vice Chair for Communications Alexandra 
Kotsovos suggested contacting the event schedulers at reserve2@pobox.upenn.edu instead of using 
the online Perelman Quadrangle reservation application.   

Invitations for the GAPSA-Provost Interdisciplinary Award Reception 

Ms. Smith has been collecting from the GAPSA-Provost Interdisciplinary Award recipients their 
invitation lists.  Ms. Smith will be designing the invitation and sending them out before September 1st. 
 
 
Fol low-up Quest i ons on Repor ts 
 
None 
 
 
Fol low-up Act ions on Repor ts 
 
None 
 
 
Special  Order s 
 
None 
 
 
Unf i ni shed Busi ness 
 
None 
 
 
New Busi ness 
 
Exec Attendance 
 



 

Vice Chair for Finance Christa Heyward put forth a motion to produce a policy on Executive Board 
member attendance.  GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp stated that in the GAPSA Constitution there 
exists an attendance policy.  Ms. Heyward stated that there is no policy on what constitutes an 
excused or unexcused absence.  Vice Chair for Social Activities Jessica Kim seconded the motion and 
agreed that there is no guideline on who determines whether an absence is excused or not.  Mr. 
Rennekamp suggested counting an absence as excused when a member voices concern over a date at 
the time the schedule was created.  Vice Chair for Student Life Nikki Thorpe agreed that there should 
be an Executive Member attendance policy.  Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky 
suggested an amendment to the motion: that GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp and First Vice Chair 
Alejandro Hagan to create a draft of an Executive Member attendance policy.  Vice Chair for 
International Students Saurabh Madaan seconded this amendment. The motion was so amended and 
the motion was passed. 
 
Timing of the G12 Meeting 
 
Vice Chair for Finance Christa Heyward mentioned that 7:30pm might be too late for some schools 
to attend the G12 meeting.  Ms. Heyward suggested switching the Executive Board meeting with the 
G12 meeting.  Vice Chair for Communications Alexandra Kotsovos stated that 7:30pm would be 
better for School of Nursing Students, rather than 6pm which is when the Executive Board meeting is 
currently scheduled.  Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky stated that either 6 or 
7:30pm would work for School of Design and Wharton students.  Mr. Abramsky noted that since the 
meeting will be more formal attire, the later time would allow students to go home and change 
clothes.  It was decided that the G12 meeting be kept at 7:30pm. 

GAPSA Pamphlet 

Vice Chair for Finance Christa Heyward brought a colorful, foldable VPUL pamphlet to demonstrate 
her ideas for a new GAPSA pamphlet.  This pamphlet would not be finished in time for the 
September 2nd/3rd orientation but would be more of a long term project.  Vice Chair for 
Communications Alexandra Kotsovos suggested for the upcoming orientation to provide quick 
GAPSA facts on a flyer.  Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky suggested that a flyer 
would be more appropriate in general than a pamphlet to prevent unnecessary waste.  Mr. Abramsky 
suggested creating only a half sheet flyer with the website in large, bright letters.  Mr. Abramsky felt 
that if GAPSA provided a pamphlet, even in the long run, that much of our effort would go to waste 
and it would be too costly.  Mr. Abramsky stated that it is important for students to hear about the 
GAPSA website and to check it frequently.  Vice Chair for Social Activities Jessica Kim stated that 
the long term pamphlet should be abridged and contain no time-sensitive issues or events.  Ms. Kim 
suggested that a pamphlet may last longer than a flyer and this would look more professional and 
increase GAPSA presence.  GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp stated that GAPSA does not need to 
make a pamphlet immediately, but it would look more professional and permanent.  Mr. Rennekamp 
suggested not using too much text or too small size font but make the website address more 
prominent.  Mr. Rennekamp sent Ms. Kotsovos a summary of all that GAPSA does to be included in 
the flyer/pamphlet.  The purpose of the pamphlet would be to explain what GAPSA is and to list on 
one of the panels what GAPSA’s accomplishments have been.  First Vice Chair Alejandro Hagan 
stated that the purpose of the pamphlet would be to increase GAPSA presence.  Pamphlets could be 
left in the Graduate Student Center for students to pick up. Mr. Hagan felt that flyers would be lost 
too easily.  Vice Chair for International Students Saurabh Madaan stated that the pamphlet would be a 
good exercise for GAPSA in order to summarize the organization.  Mr. Abramsky stated that GAPSA 
needs to produce something that looks well presented and suggested a professionally produced 
YouTube or other video. Vice Chair for Student Life Nikki Thorpe mentioned that a professional 



 

pamphlet would be appropriate to hand to administrators and to GradFest attendees.  Ms. Kotsovos 
asked whether GAPSA had a poster or banner to advertise at the New Student Orientation.  Mr. 
Rennekamp stated that there does exist a GAPSA banner and that it should be brought to the GAPSA 
table.  Mr. Rennekamp mentioned that whatever GAPSA puts into the NSO goody bags must be given 
to Anita by this Friday.  Ms. Kim mentioned that the pamphlet idea is a long-term project.  Mr. 
Rennekamp suggested giving Anita GAPSA magnets for this year’s goody bag.  Ms. Heyward stated 
that she would like the pamphlet to replace the magnets as more information can be placed on a 
pamphlet and the cost of producing magnets is expensive.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that there are 
many magnets left over from last year.  Mr. Rennekamp suggested producing GAPSA flyers in the 
meantime in order to meet Anita’s deadline of this Friday.  Mr. Rennekamp suggested that Ms. 
Kotsovos design a GAPSA flyer and make 120 copies for the NSO and more copies for the 
President’s Reception.  Ms. Heyward put forth a motion to make and design a long-term, nicer 
GAPSA pamphlet.  Ms. Kim seconded.  The motion was passed.  Ms. Kotsovos stated she could 
design it but it would not be ready in time for Friday.  Mr. Rennekamp stated he would like to see the 
draft of the GAPSA flyer and eventually a draft of the GAPSA pamphlet.  Ms. Kotsovos stated she 
would send a draft out via email. 

Committee Orientation 

GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp mentioned that Vice Chair for Equity and Access Esther Agbaje 
cannot attend the scheduled Committee Orientation meeting and would like to change the date, and 
shorten the meeting to one hour instead of the scheduled two hours.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that this 
meeting will be a general overview of GAPSA, policy councils, their functions and what GAPSA 
expects from the committee members.  Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky asked if 
during the orientation meeting the attendees would break own into their own sessions.  Mr. 
Rennekamp stated that the meeting probably won’t last the full two hours.  Vice Chair for Student 
Life Nikki Thorpe stated that she would like her Student Life policy council to meet the week of the 
scheduled Committee Orientation meeting and that it would be better to have this orientation 
meeting before her policy council meeting.  Ms. Thorpe recommended the previous week for the 
orientation meeting.  First Vice Chair Alejandro Hagan put forth a motion to allow Vice Chair for 
Equity and Access Esther Agbaje to arrange the meeting and the date change.  Mr. Abramsky 
seconded.  Ms. Thorpe asked whether every Executive Board member is required to attend or just the 
Policy Executive Board members.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that he would like as many Executive 
Board members to attend, but full attendance is not mandatory.  However, if an Executive Board 
member has a policy council, he or she would want to meet their committee members.   Vice Chair 
for International Students Saurabh Madaan agreed with Mr. Rennekamp stating that this orientation 
meeting would be beneficial for policy council committee members and policy council Chairs.  Mr. 
Hagan added to the motion to include Ms. Thorpe and Mr. Madaan in arranging the meeting and the 
date change.  The motion passed.  
 
 
Houston Hall Activities Suite 

Vice Chair for Finance Christa Heyward stated that the Houston Hall Activities Suite consists of 
several offices, rooms, and conference rooms.  The Vice Provost of University Life gave this space 
to GAPSA and GSAC to give out to graduate and professional student organizations that needed 
meeting space.  GAPSA has utilized the space for Research Council meetings during the GA meeting 
time. There is concern, however, from the administration that the space is not being frequently used.  
If student groups do not utilize this space, the administration will take the space away.  Ms. Heyward 
stated that this issue has come up every year.  GAPSA Chair Andrew Rennekamp stated that the 



 

space is used at least every other week for GAPSA meetings. The student groups that currently use 
the space would use it more if they had more resources and were better funded.  These groups don’t 
have enough funding to plan things in a meeting.  Ms. Heyward stated that BGAPSA always used this 
space for meeting and storage.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that most of the rooms are empty.  Ms. 
Heyward stated that the storage room has a different lock than the rest of the offices so items will 
not be stolen.  Vice Chair for Student Life Nikki Thorpe stated that this issue came up in one of her 
meetings and that the administration is only aware of daytime hour usage.  Ms. Thorpe stated that 
the rooms are indeed being used but the university staff is not seeing this.  Vice Chair for 
International Students Saurabh Madaan stated that there will be three policy councils and GAPSA 
should ensure that these councils use the space consistently.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that he needs to 
know what groups are supposed to be using the space and what groups are actually using the space.  
Mr. Rennekamp stated that giving the International Council space is a good idea.  Ms. Heyward 
stated that any group can use the space.  Vice Chair for Professional Students Mat Abramsky stated 
that student groups possibly do not know how they can sign up to use the space.  Mr. Abramsky 
suggested using a Google Calendar as a method of reserving space for these groups.  First Vice Chair 
Alejandro Hagan put forth a motion to place a signup sheet on the GAPSA website and on the GSC 
website.  Ms. Heyward stated that GAPSA cannot do this since there is a lobby key to the space and 
Perelman Quadrangle is not responsible for distributing this key.  Ms. Heyward suggested using a push 
button combination lock and changing the code every year.  Ms. Heyward stated that this idea came 
up in the past but no one implemented it.  The idea would be to open up the space to anyone at the 
university so that the space may be used at any time.  The issue would be signing out space and who 
ends up paying for the lock change. Some of the rooms in the Activities Suite don’t have doors.  Vice 
Chair for Social Activities Jessica Kim stated that space is limited for graduate students and it is a 
good idea to open up the space to all groups.  Mr. Rennekamp stated that GAPSA should purchase a 
combination lock.  Vice Chair for Communications Alexandra Kotsovos put forth a motion to have 
keys to the suite lobby at the GSC and that the GSC could control the signup sheet.  Mr. Hagan 
seconded.  Ms. Heyward stated that in the past the combination lock idea was chosen since the GSC 
did not want to be responsible for people signing up and for keys being returned.  Ms. Heyward stated 
that signups could be hosted on the GSC website.  Mr. Abramsky stated that Vice Chair of Operations 
Sarah Smith could be in charge of the space signups.  Ms. Heyward stated that the key to the suite 
door matches the office doors.  GAPSA would need to change the lock so that storage in the rooms is 
not stolen.  Ms. Kotsovos put forth an amendment for GAPSA to purchase a push button lock for 
the Activities Suite lobby door.  Mr. Abramsky put forth a motion to delegate the suite issue to Ms. 
Smith.  Mr. Madaan seconded.  Mr. Rennekamp suggested asking the GSC to help manage the 
reservations.  The motion passed.  Ms. Heyward will research push button lock prices. 
 
 
Announcements 
 
First Vice Chair Alejandro Hagan stated that he will begin to post the Executive Board meeting 
agendas online and that if an Executive Board member would like a paper copy, that he or she would 
need to print one on his or her own.  Mr. Hagan also suggested displaying the agenda during the 
meeting on a projector.   
 
 
Adj our nment 
 
Mr. Rennekamp motioned for the adjournment of the meeting. Mr. Hagan seconded. The meeting 
was adjourned at 7:42 pm 
 



 

 


